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Fire Creek No. 1 M ne
DECI SI ONS

Appearances: Edward H Fitch, Trial Attorney, Departnment of Labor,
Ofice of the Solicitor, Arlington, Virginia, for the
petitioner;

M chael R Kizerian, Vice President, Fire Creek Coal
Company, Knoxville, Tennessee, for the respondent.

Bef ore: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Proceedi ngs

These proceedi ngs concern petitions for assessnent of civil
penalties filed by the petitioner against the respondent in
Cct ober 1978, pursuant to section 110(a) of the Federal M ne
Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S. C. 0820(a), charging the
respondent with a total of 27 alleged mne safety violations
i ssued pursuant to the Act and inplenenting safety standards.
Respondent filed tinmely answers in the proceedi ngs and requested
a hearing regarding the proposed civil penalties initially
assessed for the alleged violations. Respondent asserted that due
to its adverse financial and econonic condition
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paynment of the assessed penalties would directly affect its
ability to continue in business. A hearing was held in Knoxville,
Tennessee, on February 27, 1979.

| ssues

The issues presented in these proceedings are (1) whether
respondent has violated the provisions of the Act and
i npl enenting regulations as alleged in the petitions for
assessnment of civil penalties filed in these proceedings, and, if
so, (2) the appropriate civil penalties that should be assessed
agai nst the respondent for each alleged violation, based upon the
criteria set forth in section 110(i) of the Act.

In determ ning the anmount of a civil penalty assessment,
section 110(i) of the Act requires consideration of the foll ow ng
criteria: (1) the operator's history of previous violations, (2)
t he appropriateness of such penalty to the size of the business
of the operator, (3) whether the operator was negligent, (4) the
effect on the operator's ability to continue in business, (5) the
gravity of the violation, and (6) the denonstrated good faith of
the operator in attenpting to achi eve rapid conpliance after
notification of the violation

Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provisions

1. The Federal Coal Mne Health and Safety Act of 1969, 30
U S.C. 0801 et seq., now the Federal Mne Safety and Heal th Act
of 1977, P.L. 95-164, effective March 9, 1978.

2. Sections 109(a)(1) and (a)(3) of the 1969 Act, 30 U S.C
[M819(a)(1l) and (a)(3), now section 110(i) of the 1977 Ac

Di scussi on

The al | eged viol ations and applicable mandatory safety
standards in issue in these proceedings are as foll ows:

Docket No. BARB 79-3-P

Section 104(d)(1) Ctation No. 140809 issued at 9:25 a.m on
March 15, 1978, cites a violation of 30 CFR 75.302-1, and states
as follows:

Line brattice used to provide face ventilation was not
installed continuously to within 10 feet of the working
face of the No. 3 entry in working section 001, where
coal was being mned with a continuous m ning nmachi ne.
The No. 3 entry working place had been devel oped
approxi mately 100 feet inby the |ast open crosscut and
no line brattice installed.
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The notice was termnated at 10: 05 a.m, the sane day it issued
after the installation of the required line brattice to within 10
feet of the working face.

Docket No. BARB 79-4-P

Section 104(d)(2) Oder No. 140845, issued at 9:10 a.m,
April 7, 1978, cites a violation of 30 CFR 75.301, and states as
fol | ows:

The active workings of the coal m ne were not
ventilated while mners were working underground in
that the main fan was not operating and mners were
wor ki ng underground in No. 1 entry working pl ace
renoving a fall of roof.

The order was term nated at 9:15 a.m, the sane day it
i ssued after the main fan was placed in operation

Section 104(d)(2) Order No. 140849, issued at 10 a.m, Apri
7, 1978, cites a violation of 30 CFR 75.301, and states as
foll ows:

Face ventilation was not provided in the Nos. 2, 3, 4,
and 5 entry working places in the 001 working section
in that ventilation was short circuited at the | ast
open crosscuts. The above-nenti oned worki ng places were
devel oped approximately 100 feet inby the |ast open
crosscuts where the ventilation was short circuited.

Section 104(d)(2) O der No. 140850, issued at 10:15 a.m,
April 7, 1978, cites a violation of 30 CFR 75.302 and states as
fol | ows:

Line brattices were not used continuously fromthe | ast
open crosscut to the faces of the Nos. 2, 3 and 4
entries in that these working places in 001 working
section were devel oped approxi mately 100 feet inby
crosscuts and no line brattice installed. The inby end
of line brattices in No. 5 entry was 50 feet fromthe
face and coal had been mned fromthe working places.

Section 104(d)(2) O der No. 140851, issued at 10:30 a.m,
April 7, 1978, cites a violation of 30 CFR 75.303(a), and states
as follows:

A preshift exam nation of the mne had not been nade
prior to miners entering the underground area of the

m ne. A record was not nade of preshift exam nations
since 3-27-78 and dates, tinmes and initials were not in
wor ki ng pl aces. The certified person at the mne stated
he had not nade an exam nation and did not know of
anyone el se naki ng exam nati ons.
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Citations 140849, 140850, and 140851 were all term nated on Apri
10, 1978, after abatenent of the conditions cited.

Docket No. BARB 79-58-P

Section 104(a) Citation 140853, issued at 8 a.m, April 10,
1978, cites a violation of section 103(d) of the Act, and states
as follows:

An unintentional roof fall had occurred in the No. 3
entry working place of 001 working section and the
operator had not nade an investigation of the fall
made a witten record or notified the District Ofice
of Coal Mne Safety.

The citation was term nated on April 17, 1978, after
abatement of the cited condition

Docket No. BARB 79-59-P

Section 104(d)(1) Ctation No. 140808, issued at 9:20 a.m,
March 15, 1978, cites a violation of 30 CFR 75.301-1, and states
as follows:

Face ventilation was not provided in the No. 3 headi ng
wor ki ng place in 001 working section where coal was
being mned with a continuous m ning machi ne.

Ventil ating devices were not installed in the working
pl ace and coal was being mned 100 feet inby the |ast
open crosscut. The section foreman was operating a m ne
tractor and had just brought a load of coal to surface.

The citation was term nated at 10:05 a.m, the same day it
i ssued after abatenent of the condition cited.

Docket No. BARB 79-57-P

Thi s docket concerns a total of 20 section 104(a) citations
i ssued by Federal mne inspector Harrison R Boston as foll ows:

March 15, 1978

Citation No. 140810, 30 CFR 75.303(a), failure to make an
adequat e preshift exam nati on.

Citation No. 140811, 30 CFR 75.301, failure to provide face
ventilation in four entries in the 001 working section, and
failure to provide line brattice or other ventilation devices.

Ctation No. 140812, 30 CFR 75.302, failure to use line
brattice or other approved ventilation devices to provide
ventilation to working places in the 001 working section
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Citation No. 140813, 30 CFR 75.316, failure to install permanent
stoppings in the third crosscut outby the working face in the 001
wor ki ng section as required by the approved mne ventilation
system and net hane and dust control plan

Ctation No. 140814, 30 CFR 75.503, failure to maintain a
tractor in permissible condition by failing to provide padl ocks
for the battery receptacles, and failing to secure battery cover
lids as required by schedule 2-G

Ctation No. 140815, 30 CFR 75.503, failure to maintain a
scoop in perm ssible condition by failing to provide padl ocks for
the battery receptacles, and failing to secure battery cover |ids
as required by schedule 2-G

Citation No. 140816, 30 CFR 75.202, failure to support roof
at the 001 section rectifier station for a wwdth of 8 feet and a
di stance of 18 feet directly around the rectifier. Posts had been
install ed, but were taken out to install the rectifier

Citation No. 140817, 30 CFR 75.523-1, inoperative
deenergi zation switch on a roof-bolting nmachine.

Citation No. 140818, 30 CFR 75.523-2(c), inoperative
deenergi zation activating bar on a continuous ni ning nmachi ne.

March 16, 1978

Citation No. 140819, 30 CFR 75.316, failure to suppl ement
the m ne ventilation system and net hane and dust control plan by
failing to submt required m ne maps and ot her required
i nformation.

Citation No. 140820, 30 CFR 75.1704-2(d), failure to post a
map of the 001 working section escapeway.

Citation No. 140821, 30 CFR 75.1100-2(d), failure to provide
a portable fire extinguisher for the mne tractor, serial No.
270A-509, used to pull |oaded coal cars fromthe 001 worKking
secti on.

Citation No. 140822, 30 CFR 75.1100-2(d), failure to provide
a portable fire extinguisher for mne tractor, serial No.
270A-510.

Ctation No. 140823, 30 CFR 75.307-1, failure to conduct a
nmet hane exam nation at the face of the No. 5 entry working place
in the 001 working section prior to the entrance of an
el ectrically-operated roof-bolting machine.

Ctation No. 140824, 30 CFR 75.503, failure to maintain the
scoop, serial No. 482-1022, used inby the |ast open crosscut in
the 001 working section in a perm ssible condition in that the
headl i ghts were i noperative.
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April 7, 1978

Citation No. 140843, 30 CFR 75.1600-1, failure to provide a
responsi bl e person on duty at the surface conmunication facility
to answer communi cations fromthree mners who were underground.

Citation No. 140844, 30 CFR 75.1713, failure to provide an
ener gency conmuni cations systemto the nearest point of nedica
assi stance.

Citation No. 140847, 30 CFR 75.503, inoperative headlights
and | ack of padl ocks on the Unitrack scoop and scoop battery
receptacl e.

Citation No. 140848, 30 CFR 75.200, failure to submt a plan
detailing cleanup and support procedures concerning a roof fal
as required by the approved roof-control plan of May 20, 1977,
page 7, item 19

Ctation No. 140852, 30 CFR 75.300-4, failure to maintain a
record of the daily fan exam nation, the |ast recorded date being

March 27, 1978.
Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Fact of Violations

Respondent did not contest any of the citations issued in
t hese cases, and except for a few comments and observati ons nade
during the course of the hearing, did not rebut any of the
citations and candidly admtted that he was responsible for them
(Tr. 18-21). In the circunstances, | find that petitioner has
established the fact of violation as to each of the citations
i ssued in these proceedings.

Gavity

Except for Citation No. 140817 (Docket BARB No. 79-57-P)
concerning a roof-bolting machi ne deenergi zati on devi ce,
petitioner stipulated that all of the remaining citations issued
in these proceedings were in the noderate to | ow range of
seriousness and that the inspector who issued the citations did
not believe that any of the citations were of "great severity"
(Tr. 10-112, 23). Petitioner also pointed out that the mne is
only devel oped sone 500 feet high on a nmountain, thereby
elimnating any real ventilation problens, and no net hane has
ever been detected (Tr. 10).

After careful review of the evidence adduced, including
copies of the citations issued by the inspector, | conclude and
find that all of the violations cited in these proceedi ngs were
seri ous.
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Negl i gence

Petitioner stipulated that except for the section 104(d)
orders, all of the other violations in these cases resulted from
ordi nary negligence on the part of the respondent (Tr. 12).
Petitioner takes the position that the section 104(d) orders
resulted fromgross negligence on the part of the respondent (Tr.
12). Respondent conceded that both he and the persons hired to
manage the m ne shoul d have been aware of the conditions cited,
and he conceded that failure to correct the conditions cited
constituted ordinary negligence (Tr. 22). Aside fromthe fact
that the section 104(d) orders were issued, petitioner has
presented no evidence or testinmony supporting the assertion that
the violations resulted fromgross negligence. | find nothing in
the record to support a conclusion that respondent deliberately
and reckl essly disregarded the safety standards cited. He
candidly admitted that as the m ne operator, he was responsible,
along with the hired m ne manager, for the safe operation of the
m ne. However, the manager is no | onger enployed by the
respondent, and petitioner agrees that marked i nprovenents have
been nade in the operation of the mne. In the circunstances,
find that all of the violations resulted fromordi nary negligence
on respondent's part and the conditions cited were conditions
whi ch respondent adnmits he shoul d have been aware of and shoul d
have corrected.

Good Faith Conpliance

The present m ne operator took over the operation and
ownership of the mne in May 1977, and he instituted changes in
the m ne's managenent, including replacing the prior nne
manager. Petitioner agrees that the respondent has taken steps to
inmprove its mning practices to insure that the mne is operated
safely, and that prior to taking over the mne, the present
owners had no previous mning experience and had to rely on its
prior manager who has since |left the enploy of the conmpany (Tr.
65-66, 68). As for the citations in question in these
proceedi ngs, the record supports a finding that they were tinely
abated and that respondent exercised normal good faith in abating
the conditions once the conditions were brought to his attention
The parties stipulated that all of the citations issued in these
proceedi ngs were tinmely abated and that the respondent exercised
good faith in correcting the conditions once they were brought to
his attention (Tr. 21), and this is supported by statenents nade
by counsel on the record with respect to conversations he had
with MBHA m ne inspector Harrison R Boston, the inspector who
issued all of the citations and orders in these proceedi ngs.

H story of Prior Violations

Petitioner has submtted a computer printout reflecting
respondent's prior history of violations. That docunent reflects
that 75 violations were issued for the period May 20, 1977, to
March 12,
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1979, and that respondent has made payment for 26 violations
during that period of time. Petitioner asserts that this reflects
a noderate history of previous violations, and | agree and adopt
that proposed finding as nmy finding on this issue.

Si ze of Business and Effect of Penalties Assessed on
Respondent's Ability to Continue in Business

The evi dence adduced in these proceedings reflects that the
present m ne owners took over the operation of the mne on My
20, 1977, and that total mine production since that time anounts
to sonme 15,000 tons of coal (Tr. 29, Exh. R-5). Copies of an NMsSHA
quarterly m ne enpl oynent and coal production reports reflect
that the 1978 mi ne production was 7,620 tons, and that m ne
enpl oyment was seven wor kers underground and three workers on the
surface, with a seasonal enploynent for 3 nonths of 53 enpl oyees
(Exh. R-8). The m ne was shut down for 3 nonths fromJuly to
Novenmber 1978, and this was corroborated by petitioner (Tr. 36).
The m ne presently enploys seven miners, and during the tine the
viol ati ons issued, enployed 9 to 10 fulltime mners (Tr. 47). The
mne is a nonunion drift mning operation using a conventi onal
m ner, and petitioner stipulated that the mne is a very smal
m ni ng operation which at one tinme was being inproperly
supervi sed, but which appears to be on its way to functioning
much safer with the individuals now operating it.

The initial assessnments nade in these cases by MBHA's O fice
of Assessnents did not take into consideration the financial
plight of respondent's m ning operations (Tr. 13-14). At the
hearing in this matter, respondent (M chael Kizerian) submtted
det ai |l ed docunentary evi dence concerning the financial condition
of the conpany. Included are copies of financial statenments for
t he year ending June 30, 1978, billings fromcreditors, checkbook
bank records indicating deposits and paynments made on the conpany
account, bank statenents, State of Tennessee Departnent of
Revenue and Taxation records indicating state severance taxes
paid for coal produced by the respondent's mine, and State and
| ocal sales and use tax returns (Exhs. R 1 through R-6).

The testi nony and evi dence adduced by the respondent in
t hese proceedings reflects that for the initial 13 or 14 nonths
of its operation, the mine | ost $277,898.47, and that as of
February 1979, respondent has outstanding debts in terns of
accounts payable in the ambunt of $70,206.37, and which do not
i nclude a price adjustnment penalty levied on the respondent by
the TVA chargi ng respondent's account for $8,587.05 for failure
to guarantee the dry ash content of its product. Respondent
testified that he is concerned over the fact that he cannot neet
hi s expenses since he wants to pay his bills. However, he stated
that one of the reasons that he did not contest the violations
cited against himis the fact that he is on the verge
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of going out of business, that he is operating from week-to-week
with some $70,000 in outstandi ng debts, and that one najor
breakdown at the mine will place his operation in jeopardy (Tr.
58-59).

The Fire Creek Coal Conpany is a mning venture and whol |y
owned subsidiary of Real Estate West, an investnment conpany
operated by M. Kizerian's father in Uah. M. Kizerian was hired
by his father to operate the coal mning venture known as Fire
Creek Coal Company, and he is conpensated by the coal conpany
(Tr. 51-56). Real Estate West is not in the primary business of
m ni ng coal, and petitioner suggested that absent any evidence to
the contrary, the question of the anount of civil penalties which
shoul d be assessed for the violations in question in these
proceedi ngs should be directed toward the operations of Fire
Creek Coal Company and its ability to remain in the coal mning
busi ness (Tr. 56).

Petitioner has filed posthearing argunments concerning the
financial condition of the respondent, including an anal ysis of
t he docunentary evidence concerning this issue. Petitioner
asserts that the information submtted supports a finding that
paynment of normally reasonable fines for the violations would, in
fact, have an adverse effect on the respondent’'s ability to
remain in the business of mning coal. In support of this
concl usi on, petitioner argues that the controlling conpany here,
Real Estate West, has been heavily subsidizing this coal m ning
venture, and that the records indicate that the current payable
liabilities are in excess of $48,000 and that long termdebt to
Real Estate West is in excess of $400,000. Petitioner subnits
that civil penalties in the aggregate of $2,000 will not cause
the respondent to go out of business, and that petitioner is
agreeable to a schedule of up to four paynments for the respondent
to pay whatever penalties are assessed in the matter

In Robert G Lawson Coal Company, 1 IBMA 115, 117-118
(1972), the forner Board of M ne Operations Appeal s nade the
foll owi ng observations:

W view the provisions of section 109(a)(1) as

mani festing an intent by Congress to require a

bal anci ng process in arriving at an appropriate penalty
to be assessed in any given case. Application of the
criteria of section 109(a) (1) requires weighing the

i nportance of inposing pecuniary penalties, as a
measure of deterring insufficient concern for the

heal th and safety of mners, against other deterrents
specified in the Act, such as closure orders. The
anmount of a nonetary penalty inposed should be
sufficiently high to deter any laxity of vigilance on
the part of an operator to keep his mne in conpliance
with the Act. In our view, however, the inposition of a
penal ty which would cripple an operator's



~158

ability to continue his production of coal w thout a

count er-bal anci ng benefit to the safety of m ners would not be
appropri ate.

We do not view the civil penalty assessnent procedure
as a tool to force closure of mnes; we |ook upon it as
an auxiliary tool to bring about conpliance. The Act
contai ns several enforcenment provisions permtting the
closure of mnes to protect the health and safety of
mners. We believe that the intent of Congress was to
give the Secretary great latitude in the assessnment of
nmonetary penalties so as to pernmit himto weight the
equities and render justice on a case-by-case basis. O
course, in doing so we must be particulary conscious of
two of the statutory criteria--the size of the
operator's business and the effect of a penalty on the
operator's ability to continue in business. The nost
severe penalty authorized by the Act is mne closure
with its consequent |oss of production, idlenent of

m ners, and inpact upon both the operator and the
public. W believe Congress intended a bal anced

consi deration of all statutory factors, including the
size of mne and the ability to remain in business, to
permt assessnents which would be equitable and just in
all situations but which would not have the effect of
drastically curtailing coal production or enploynent of
mners to the ultimate detrinent of the public

i nterest.

VWhere nunerous violations are found and cited during a
tour of inspection, the aggregate anount of the
proposed assessnents, even though each separate

vi ol ati on may be assessed at a nominal value, may be an
anount beyond the operator's ability to pay, and thus,
for no other reason than this, may be unreasonable. In
such cases it is incunbent upon an Exami ner and this
Board to | ook at the total anpunt and inpact of the
nmonteary penalty in arriving at a fair assessment.

The Board followed its Lawson Coal reasoning with respect to
the question of the effect of civil penalties on small operators
in two subsequent deci sions, Newsone Brothers, Inc., 1 IBVA 190
(1972), and Hall Coal Company, 1 IBVA 175 (1972). In Hall, the
Board also ruled that in addition to the six statutory criteria
a civil penalty may also be mitigated by the fact that the
infraction was a first offense, committed shortly after the
effective date of the Act, by a small operator who denonstrated
good faith by inmedi ate abatenent. The Board al so observed that
there is a presunption that such an operator will not be affected
adversely by the inmposition of a sizeable civil penalty, but that
it is incunbent upon the operator to present evidence of an
adverse effect of a nonetary penalty upon his mning operation
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After careful review of all of the evidence adduced in these
proceedings, | amin agreenent with petitioner's proposed finding
that the inposition of the initial civil penalty assessnents
recommended in these dockets, would in the aggregate, effectively
put respondent out of business. Having viewed respondent’'s chief
wi tness on the stand during the course of the hearing, |I find he
is a candid and honest individual. He voluntarily produced his
conpany financial records, including bank statenents, | edgers,
tax returns, operating expenses, incone statenents, etc., and
find his testinony to be credible. Considering the fact that the
respondent is a very small operator and is in serious financial
difficulties, as attested to by the evidence adduced herein, |
find that the proposed civil penalties in the total anount of
$8, 830 coul d jeopardize respondent's ability to remain in
busi ness. | therefore conclude that the circunstances presented
justifies mtigation of the initial assessments made in these
proceedi ngs, and shoul d be considered by ne in assessing
appropriate penalties.

In view of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons,
respondent is assessed civil penalties for the violations which
have been established as foll ows:

Docket No. BARB 79-3-P

Citation No. Dat e 30 CFR Standard Assessnent
140809 03/ 15/ 78 75.302-1 $150
Docket No. BARB 79-4-P
Citation No. Dat e 30 CFR Standard Assessnent
140845 04/ 07/ 78 75. 301 $350
140849 04/ 07/ 78 75. 301 300
140850 04/ 07/ 78 75. 302 300
140851 04/ 07/ 78 75. 303(a) 100
Docket No. BARB 79-58-P
Citation No. Dat e 30 CFR Standard Assessnent
140808 03/ 15/ 78 75.301-1 $ 80
Docket No. BARB 79-57-P
Citation No. Dat e 30 CFR Standard Assessnent
140810 03/ 15/ 78 75. 303(a) $ 60
140811 03/ 15/ 78 75. 301 100
140812 03/ 15/ 78 75. 302 50
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140813 03/ 15/ 78 75. 316 40
140814 03/ 15/ 78 75.503 20
140815 03/ 15/ 78 75.503 20
140816 03/ 15/ 78 75. 202 50
140817 03/ 15/ 78 75.523-1 75
140818 03/ 15/ 78 75.523-2(c) 35
140819 03/ 16/ 78 75. 316 20
140820 03/ 16/ 78 75.1704-2(d) 15
140821 03/ 16/ 78 75. 1100- 2(d) 20
140822 03/ 16/ 78 75. 1100- 2(d) 20
140823 03/ 16/ 78 75.307-1 25
140824 03/ 16/ 78 75.503 20
140843 04/07/78 75.1600-1 25
140844 04/07/78 75.1713 25
140847 04/07/78 75.503 30
140848 04/07/78 75. 200 50
140852 04/07/78 75.300-4 20
ORDER

Respondent is ORDERED to pay the civil penalties assessed
herein, in the anount of $2,000, within thirty (30) days of this
order, or within a nmutually agreeable tine schedul e which may be
negotiated with the petitioner.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Admi ni strative Law Judge



